# UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS EASTERN DIVISION

## UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

v.

No. 09 CR 383

PEDRO FLORES and MARGARITO FLORES

Chief Judge Ruben Castillo

# GOVERNMENT'S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM AND MOTION TO DEPART FROM THE APPLICABLE GUIDELINE RANGE

The UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, by its attorney, ZACHARY T. FARDON, United States Attorney for the Northern District of Illinois, respectfully submits the following sentencing memorandum and motion to depart from the applicable Guideline range pursuant to USSG § 5K1.1 and 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) with respect to defendants Pedro Flores and Margarito Flores:

## I. <u>Introduction</u>

In 2008, Pedro Flores and Margarito Flores voluntarily broke away from their positions in the highest echelons of the cartel world to transform themselves into extraordinary witnesses. Despite great personal risk to themselves and their families, the Flores brothers amassed substantial evidence that directly allowed the government to build cases, which were unprecedented in this district, targeting the leadership structure of two Mexican cartels. Not only did the Flores brothers' actions facilitate the targeting of these criminal enterprises from the top down, but their cooperation further enabled the government to completely dismantle the Flores brothers' own organization and convict over a dozen large-scale domestic customers. As explained in further detail below, the Flores brothers' unparalleled assistance to the government sufficiently offsets their considerable criminal culpability to such a degree that the government recommends that the Court impose sentence at or near the low-end of the agreed range of 10-16 years' imprisonment set forth in their plea agreements.

#### II. <u>Procedural Background</u>

Defendants surrendered themselves to the custody of the U.S. Marshals Service on or about November 30, 2008, and were subsequently charged in the First, Second, and Third Superseding Indictments in this matter with conspiracy to possess with intent to distribute and to distribute controlled substances in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846 (Count One), and conspiracy to import a controlled substance into the United States, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 963 (Count Two).<sup>1</sup> R. 7, 75, and 157. On August 22, 2012 and August 23, 2012, defendants pled guilty pursuant to plea agreements to Count One of the Third Superseding Indictment. R. 348, 359, and 360.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pedro Flores and Margarito Flores are twin brothers who jointly ran their drug trafficking organization as co-equals. As explained in further detail below, the Flores brothers began jointly cooperating with the government in or about October 2008. The government is unaware of any material differences between the brothers with respect to their criminal culpability, cooperation credit, or any sentencing factors listed in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a); accordingly, the government does not intend to distinguish between the brothers in its sentencing submissions to the Court.

#### III. <u>The Offense Conduct</u>

Between May 2005 and December 2008, the Flores brothers operated a Chicago-based distribution cell for the Sinaloa Cartel and the Beltran Leyva Organization ("BLO"). On average, this cell received 1,500-2,000 kilos of cocaine per month. Approximately half of this cocaine was distributed to the Flores brothers' Chicago-area customers; the other half was distributed to customers in additional cities, including Columbus, Cincinnati, Philadelphia, New York, Washington, D.C., Detroit, and Vancouver.

In particular, the Flores brothers negotiated directly with the leaders of the Sinaloa Cartel and BLO, as well as their principle lieutenants, to obtain large shipments of cocaine and heroin on credit. The Flores brothers knew that the cartels transported cocaine from Colombia to Mexico using multiple methods, including planes, boats, and submarines. The drugs provided to the Flores brothers were then smuggled across the U.S.-Mexico border using the cartels' transportation infrastructure. Once inside the U.S., the drugs were transported to the Chicago area using a system of stash houses, warehouses, and vehicles with hidden trap compartments. In Chicago, a team of workers operating at the Flores brothers' direction were responsible for: (1) offloading the drug shipments; (2) storing the drugs at various stash houses and warehouses; (3) distributing the drugs to customers; and (4) collecting and packaging drug proceeds. The drug proceeds were then transported back to Mexico, once more through the cartels' infrastructure, where they were delivered to the Flores brothers and their sources of supply.

#### IV. <u>Objections to the PSR</u>

The government concurs with the Guidelines calculations in the defendants' PSRs and does not have any objections or suggested corrections to the PSRs.

# V. <u>Defendants' Cooperation and Government's Motion to Depart from</u> the Applicable Guideline Range

The government submits that the defendants have provided the full and truthful cooperation required by their plea agreements. Accordingly, pursuant to the terms of the plea agreements, the government now respectfully moves this Court, pursuant to USSG § 5K1.1, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(e), and Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(C), to depart from the advisory Guidelines range and sentence defendants at or near the low-end of the agreed range of 10-16 years set forth on the plea agreements.

The defendants earned their departures through extraordinary cooperation. The defendants jointly decided to dissolve their criminal enterprise and cooperate with the government. Pedro Flores first met directly with a DEA agent assigned to the Chicago Field Division and an NDIL AUSA in early November 2008. During this meeting, Pedro agreed on behalf of both brothers to cooperate for a period of time and then surrender to U.S. authorities. The Flores brothers then proactively cooperated until their surrender on November 30, 2008. The brevity of this proactive cooperation was dictated by its extreme risk, heightened by the fact that the multiple seizures described below caused the Flores brothers to quickly incur massive debts to the leaders of the Sinaloa Cartel and the BLO.

Debriefing the Flores brothers to obtain all of the historical information they possessed took approximately six months of near daily proffer sessions. During this process, the Flores brothers provided information freely and to the best of their abilities. They each testified before the grand jury numerous times after the raw information they provided had been distilled into organized statements on each of the categories of defendants. These statements led directly to the charging of approximately 54 defendants in 2009.<sup>2</sup> Following their testimony, the Flores brothers were sent to BOP facilities outside of Chicago, but still continued their cooperation through frequent telephone proffers and in-person visits by the government. This ongoing cooperation has led directly and indirectly to multiple additional defendants being charged and has contributed to probable cause findings in search warrants and wiretaps through the use of information provided by the Flores brothers (attributed to them as confidential sources) in affidavits filed in support of such requests.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> A complete list of defendants charged in substantial part due to the Flores brothers' cooperation is attached to this memorandum as Exhibit C.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Many of the matters in which involve information provided by the Flores brothers remain under seal or are otherwise law enforcement sensitive. For this reason, the government cannot fully describe these matters even in this redacted filing. With the agreement of the defendants, the government will provide full descriptions of these matters directly to the Court in an *ex parte*, under seal manner.

## The Flores Brothers Cooperation Against Cartel Leaders

As part of their proactive cooperation in Mexico, the Flores brothers interacted with multiple high-level cartel members and associates to negotiate the acquisition of loads of cocaine and heroin. Where possible, the Flores brothers recorded these conversations. In total, the Flores brothers recorded more than 70 conversations with cartel members, many of which were associated with seizures of drugs or money in United States facilitated by the Flores brothers.<sup>4</sup>

Of great significance, the recordings made by the Flores brothers included two conversations recorded with the then-leader of the Sinaloa Cartel, Joaquin Guzman Loera ("Chapo"), multiple conversations with Chapo's son and lieutenant, Jesus Alfredo Guzman Salazar ("JAGS"), and multiple conversations with a courier for Chapo, all regarding a 20-kilo shipment of heroin in the Northern District of Illinois. Specifically, the Flores brothers negotiated the load with Chapo and JAGS and recorded multiple conversations with JAGS regarding these negotiations and delivery logistics. The Flores brothers then arranged for an undercover agent to pose as a courier for the Flores brothers' organization and take possession of the heroin in this district. After this delivery, the Flores brothers recorded two conversations directly with Chapo during which they negotiated a price reduction—

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A summary of all of the recordings made by defendants is attached to this memorandum as Exhibit A. A summary of all of the seizures facilitated by the defendants as part of their cooperation is attached to this memorandum as Exhibit B.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 7 of 26 PageID #:2254

from \$55,000 per kilo to \$50,000. In the recordings, which have been voice identified as Chapo by multiple additional cooperating witnesses, Chapo acknowledged both the conspiracy's existence and the agreed terms of this transaction before approving a price reduction. Following this agreement, the Flores brothers recorded equally inculpatory conversations with JAGS to arrange for payment of the heroin.<sup>5</sup> These recordings and accompanying seizure in NDIL form the basis of a strong case against Chapo and JAGS.<sup>6</sup>

The Flores brothers orchestrated similar seizures, and made additional explicit, inculpatory recordings involving numerous additional Sinaloa Cartel leaders in doing so. For example, in October 2008, Margarito Flores met directly with Chapo, Sinaloa Cartel co-leader Ismael Zambada Garcia ("Mayo"), Mayo's son Vicente Zambada Niebla ("VZN"), and multiple high-level Sinaloa Cartel lieutenants, including Felipe Cabrera Sarabia. During this meeting, Mayo instructed the Flores brothers to work with Cabrera Sarabia to distribute heroin in Chicago. Following the meeting, the Flores brothers recorded a series of calls with Cabrera Sarabia setting up a 15-kilo heroin delivery in Chicago. As with the heroin from Chapo, the Flores brothers arranged for a UC to pick up the heroin from Cabrera Sarabia's courier. The Flores brothers then used the two shipments of heroin received from Chapo and Mayo as a predicate to record multiple

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> This payment was reported to the government in advance of being made and was authorized by the government in order to further the defendants' cooperation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Chapo has yet to be extradited to the U.S., and JAGS remains a fugitive.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 8 of 26 PageID #:2255

conversations with Sinaloa Cartel leadership, including the two conversations with Chapo referenced above. Although later lab testing performed by DEA revealed that both shipments of heroin had purity levels above the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile, the Flores brothers used a ruse that the heroin received from Mayo was of inferior quality to the heroin from Chapo in order to further their cooperation. The Flores brothers asked Chapo to agree to a reduced rate because it was harder for them to pay promptly due to their difficulties in distributing the lesser-grade heroin from Mayo. The Flores brothers recorded similar conversations with Cabrera Sarabia and VZN discussing the heroin shipment and the payment made afterward.<sup>7</sup> All told, the recordings made by the Flores brothers with respect to the two heroin deliveries and seizures were invaluable in building cases against numerous leadership-level figures in the Sinaloa Cartel.

In addition to the heroin conversations, the Flores brothers likewise facilitated massive cocaine seizures backed by recorded conversations that directly allowed the government to charge additional high-ranking cartel members. In November 2008, the Flores brothers negotiated the purchase of just over one ton of cocaine from BLO leader Arturo Beltran Leyva. The Flores brothers also involved Manuel Fernandez Valencia in this load by partnering with him on the purchase. At the time of this transaction, the Sinaloa Cartel and BLO were engaged in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> As with the shipment received from Chapo, the government permitted the defendants to make a payment to Cabrera Sarabia, which was reported to VZN in a recorded conversation, in order to further their cooperation.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 9 of 26 PageID #:2256

bloody war that is believed to have directly and indirectly claimed hundreds, if not thousands, of lives in Mexico. Due to proclamations from both cartels that their associates were forbidden from working with the other side, the Flores brothers' simultaneous engagement and cooperation against the Sinaloa Cartel and BLO was highly perilous. Beyond the ever present danger of having their cooperation discovered, either side could have reacted violently had they discovered that the Flores brothers were engaging in transactions with the enemy. This danger was discussed in depth in recorded conversations with Fernandez Valencia and one of Beltran Leyva's lieutenants referred to as "Musico." Following the recorded telephone negotiations, the Flores brothers facilitated the seizure of approximately 1,044 kilos of cocaine in the Los Angeles area that was ultimately bound for Chicago. Beltran Leyva, Fernandez Valencia, and Musico were all charged in 09 CR 670 (J. Guzman) in connection with this transaction. Beltran Levva was subsequently killed in Mexico; Fernandez Valencia was arrested in Mexico, extradited to the United States, and his case remains pending before Judge Guzman; and Musico remains a fugitive in Mexico.

Similarly, the Flores brothers negotiated another approximate 574-kilo cocaine load from Chapo's cousin and lieutenant, Juan Guzman Rocha. As with the other shipments, the Flores brothers recorded a number of highly inculpatory conversations with Guzman Rocha and then facilitated the seizure of the cocaine in the Los Angeles area before it was transported to Chicago. These recordings and

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 10 of 26 PageID #:2257

seizures served as the lynchpin of the case against Guzman Rocha and provided further corroboration of the involvement of others in the conspiracy, including Chapo. Guzman Rocha was subsequently killed in Mexico in Cartel-related violence. In addition, the Flores brothers recorded an in-person conversation with Alfredo Vasquez Hernandez regarding a 276-kilo cocaine load. Although these drugs were not seized, the Flores brothers' cooperation still enabled the charging of Vasquez Hernandez.<sup>8</sup> Finally, the Flores brothers further recorded conversations and facilitated seizures of heroin which ultimately led to Tomas Arevalo Renteria being charged with the drug trafficking offenses to which he has pled guilty before this Court.

All of these seizures in rapid succession placed the Flores brothers in grave danger in Mexico. When directed by the government to do so on November 30, 2008, the Flores brothers surrendered to U.S. authorities and were ultimately transported to this district. The focus of their proactive cooperation then shifted to their wholesale customers in the United States, who were as of yet unaware of the Flores brothers' cooperation or extraction from Mexico.

# The Flores Brothers' Cooperation Led to the Arrest of Dozens of High-Level U.S.-Based Drug Customers

Beginning on December 1, 2008, the Flores brothers placed a series of recorded calls to their customers to set up enforcement actions by the government.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Vasquez Hernandez recently pled guilty and was sentenced to 22 years in prison.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 11 of 26 PageID #:2258

The Flores brothers negotiated the delivery of shipments of cocaine to the customers, who were then arrested when they showed up to pick up the cocaine. The Flores brothers' proactive cooperation, coupled with their grand jury testimony and the cooperation of the Flores brothers' workers (who are addressed below), led to the charging of more than a dozen high-level customers who received, on average 50-100 kilos of cocaine per month. Each of these customers either pled guilty or was found guilty following trial. In the ordinary course, each of these cases, made almost exclusively through the Flores brothers' cooperation, would merit exceptional consideration at sentencing. These defendants served as the primary link between the cartel suppliers and wholesale and retail distributors in Chicago and elsewhere in the country. While not as high-profile as the cartel figures, the successful prosecution of these defendants made a very real difference in combating the scourge of drug trafficking that fuels so much violence and the destruction of communities in Chicago.

#### The Flores Brothers Dismantled Their Own Organization

Through their cooperation, the Flores brothers facilitated the complete dismantlement of their own organization. As with the customers, each of the Flores brothers' workers were convicted after they were charged. While the Flores brothers' actions in this regard represented downstream cooperation against comparably less culpable defendants, these prosecutions were nonetheless essential to the overall success of the case to ensure that none of the workers rose up to fulfill

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 12 of 26 PageID #:2259

the void left by the Flores brothers' voluntary surrender. The Flores workers were collectively responsible for the distribution of ton quantities of cocaine and the laundering of more than \$1 billion through the course of the conspiracy. In addition, the Flores brothers' cooperation spurred many of the workers to cooperate as well. These workers had dealt directly with customers and cartel couriers, and the cooperating workers' testimony was invaluable in securing convictions against these defendants. As such, the Flores brothers should also receive credit for causing this cooperation to occur where it is likely that it would not have otherwise, at least in as timely a fashion and on the same scale as the mass cooperation that followed the disclosure of the Flores brothers' cooperation to the workers.

#### The Flores Brothers' Cooperation Directly Assisted In Extraditions

The Flores brothers have also signed multiple declarations that were submitted to the Government of Mexico as part of successful extradition requests for multiple defendants in this district, including Vicente Zambada Niebla, Alfredo Vasquez Hernandez, and Tomas Arevalo Renteria. The Flores brothers have also signed, or have agreed to sign at the appropriate time, declarations for additional NDIL defendants in Mexico,

Each of these

declarations has been or will be made known to the defendants for whom extradition is sought, placing the Flores brothers in increased danger of retaliation.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 13 of 26 PageID #:2260

## The Flores Brothers' Cooperation Outside the Northern District of Illinois

The Flores brothers' cooperation has further aided additional U.S. Attorney's



brothers' cooperation has also provided valuable intelligence and actionable information to DEA, FBI, HSI, and ATF offices throughout the country and in Mexico.

## VI. <u>Analysis of the Sentencing Factors Set Forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)</u>

The 3553(a) factors are difficult to apply in a traditional sense to these defendants. Each of the factors contribute to the issue at the heart of this sentencing—striking an appropriate balance between criminal conduct that likely qualifies the Flores brothers as the most significant drug traffickers in Chicago's

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 14 of 26 PageID #:2261

history against cooperation that almost certainly qualifies as the most significant in a drug trafficking and money laundering context in the history of this district. Taking even the low-end of the average quantity of cocaine distributed by the Flores brothers per month, 1,500 kilos, yields a total amount of 64,500 kilos over the course of the charged conspiracy. This is an almost incomprehensible quantity of cocaine to be distributed in Chicago and other communities throughout the United States, with resulting harm that is incalculable, but without question horrific. Absent their cooperation, the government would argue life imprisonment is the appropriate sentence for these defendants. However, they are not being sentenced absent cooperation. Instead, in order to determine a sentence that is sufficient, but not greater than necessary to accomplish the 3553(a) goals, the defendants' conduct must be offset by cooperation that is unprecedented in this district. This balance affects each of the 3553(a) factors.

#### Seriousness of the Offense

With respect to the seriousness of the offense, this Court is well aware of the factual circumstances of this case and the government will not belabor those facts here. In short, the defendants operated at the highest level of drug trafficking in the world. While they themselves were not cartel leaders, they were the pipeline that allowed those leaders to push tons of drugs into the hands of wholesale customers, who in turn fed the destructive distribution machines that exist throughout this country. While the cartels could have found other outlets, the Flores brothers were so successful a channel for the cartels that they created massive economies of scale, which made it significantly easier and more efficient for the cartels to distribute drugs hundreds of kilos at a time with substantially reduced risk.

But consideration of the seriousness of the defendants' offense goes hand-inhand with consideration of the Flores brothers' cooperation. For example, and briefly mentioned earlier, the Flores brothers facilitated the arrival of 276 kilograms of cocaine in Chicago that had been transported by co-defendant Alfredo Vasquez Hernandez. In the process of facilitating the drugs' arrival, the Flores brothers recorded a phone conversation with Vasquez Hernandez discussing the load. They also provided a detailed explanation of how the load was picked up by one of their workers in Chicago. This evidence led to the successful prosecution of Vasquez Hernandez. But providing such evidence to the government on such a significant drug load and drug trafficker would not have been possible absent the Flores brothers own involvement in serious, high-level international and domestic drug trafficking.

With respect to this particular facet of cooperation by the Flores brothers, however, the court must also consider not just the result of their cooperation (the successful prosecution of Vasquez Hernandez), but also the way in which it came to be. One aggravating factor of the Flores brothers' cooperation is their failure to report the arrival of the 276 kilos of cocaine, resulting in its distribution in the

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 16 of 26 PageID #:2263

Chicago area. The fact that the Flores brothers caused such a vast quantity of cocaine to be distributed, rather than seized by the government, during the pendency of their cooperation certainly offsets some of the positive results they otherwise achieved. When asked by the government why they initially failed to report this cocaine, the Flores brothers stated that they needed the money from this load to avoid the danger of falling too far behind in their payments to the Cartel.

Despite their initial failure to report the load, following their surrender, the Flores brothers told the government about the existence of the load and provided a detailed explanation of how the load was picked up by one of their workers in Chicago. While this candor in no way excuses their actions in allowing the drugs to be distributed, it did preserve their credibility and enabled their further and ongoing cooperation. As to this particular load, that cooperation helped lead to the conviction of Vasquez Hernandez, who admitted to his participation in moving the drugs. As to this transaction and others, the Flores' information and testimony has been consistently and compellingly corroborated by witnesses, documents, drug and asset seizures, and dozens of recordings.

Beyond their grand jury testimony, the Flores brothers have not been called as live witnesses in any other judicial proceedings. The brothers have been, and remain, prepared to testify truthfully in court. To date, the government has exercised its discretion not to call them. Among other factors, the government must consider the extreme danger associated with physically producing the brothers in

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 17 of 26 PageID #:2264

any venue outside of their protected custodial locations. This risk, and the steps and resources required to mitigate this risk have weighed heavily in the government's decisions not to call the brothers to date. To be clear, however, the government believes the Flores brothers are viable and credible witnesses, and the government anticipates using them in the future.

The seriousness of the offense is also highlighted by the enormous sum of money involved in the conspiracy. In total, the Flores brothers admitted to facilitating the transfer of approximately \$1.8 billion dollars of drug proceeds from the United States to Mexico, primarily through bulk cash smuggling. Even after paying the cartel sources of supply and other expenses associated with running their organization, the Flores brothers profited mightily from their drug trafficking. What became of the Flores brothers' profits was a heavy focus of the government's The Flores brothers were extracted from Mexico on a few hours' investigation. notice and left millions of dollars of assets behind in Mexico, including numerous homes, properties, and vehicles. Although the Flores brothers provided a truthful accounting of these items, because they were not lawfully obtained in Mexico in the Flores brothers' names, the government was not able to successfully pursue forfeiture or seizure. The Flores brothers themselves came to the United States via airplane with little but clothing and the evidence they gathered in Mexico. Their family members entered the United States with a small number of personal

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 18 of 26 PageID #:2265

belongings, a relatively small amount of cash, and multiple high-end vehicles that they were driving.<sup>10</sup>

The government's investigation revealed allegations that the Flores brothers facilitated the collection of millions of dollars of drug proceeds from customers in the United States who still owed debts to the Flores brothers. The allegations continued that the Flores brothers had caused this money to be secreted from the government through multiple means, including through burying money in various locations. In response to this information, the government took several investigative steps, including exhaustive asset checks of the Flores brothers, their family members, and associates, as well as the simultaneous and separate interview of the Flores brothers and their family. The Flores brothers both admitted to causing their associates to collect approximately several million dollars of drug proceeds from a customer in the Washington D.C. area shortly after their arrival in Chicago in December 2008. The Flores brothers further admitted that they took these actions without reporting them to the government, even though they were otherwise actively cooperating. This money was then transported back to Chicago and used by the Flores brothers and their families, at times for impermissible reasons, without informing the government, including for the purchase of a Bentley as a gift for Pedro Flores's wife and other wholly inappropriate expenditures. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Where appropriate, these vehicles were subsequently seized and forfeited by the government.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 19 of 26 PageID #:2266

remainder of the funds collected, totaling more than \$4 million, minus \$300,000 total that was provided to the Flores family to provide for their sustenance and security and legal fees paid to their attorneys, were voluntarily surrendered to the government and are subject to forfeiture pursuant to the terms of the defendant's plea agreements and the agreed motion for a preliminary order of forfeiture filed with this Court.

The government went to elaborate lengths to determine whether the Flores brothers were truthful in the information they provided, including the immunization of those involved in the pickup and transportation of the money to determine whether any additional funds were being hidden from the government. The government found no evidence of the existence of additional funds. Without credible evidence to the contrary, and after an exhaustive investigation, the government does not believe that the Flores brothers are hiding assets from the government or this Court. Accordingly, the government does not believe that the Flores brothers' assets to be a factor in this sentencing beyond the above-described conduct of collecting, hiding for a limited period of time, and improperly using funds without informing the government.

#### Need to Promote Deterrence

The need to promote deterrence is also impacted by the Flores brothers' culpability-cooperation balance. The need for individual deterrence is minimized to large degree by the extreme hurdles that the Flores brothers would face in any

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 20 of 26 PageID #:2267

attempt to return to drug trafficking. As two of the most well-known cooperating witnesses in the country, the Flores brothers (and their families) will live the rest of their lives in danger of being killed in retribution. They are essentially surrounded on all sides by some of the most violent actors in the criminal sphere. The barbarism of the cartels is legend, with a special place reserved for those who cooperate. Having cooperated against not only the leadership of the cartels, but also their sons, family members, and closest associates, the Flores brothers would in all likelihood be killed absent their protection from the government. As an illustration, against the direct admonishment of the government not to do so, the Flores brothers' father reentered Mexico in 2009 after the government facilitated his entry into the United States for his own protection. Within days, the father was kidnapped and presumed killed. A note left at the scene of the kidnapping made explicit that the father was taken as a direct consequence of the Flores brothers' cooperation. The Flores brothers also face danger of retaliation from their former U.S.-based associates. These threats make a return to drug trafficking next to impossible for these defendants.

The need for general deterrence must also be considered. Again in the ordinary course, this case would scream for a substantial sentence to deter others from engaging in similar conduct. This remains a necessity here. The Flores brothers are in a way the ultimate success story from a criminal prospective. They rose from street level drug trafficking in Chicago all the way to the top of the cartel

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 21 of 26 PageID #:2268

world, along the way earning millions of dollars in profit. From the point of view of an aspiring drug trafficker, this success would be something to emulate and a considerable prison sentence would be appropriate to deter others from attempting to follow suit. This need for deterrence, however, must be offset by the legitimate interest in promoting cooperation by those engaged in criminal activity. In this regard, the Flores brothers represent perhaps the best case scenario for high-level cooperation in the narcotics realm. The Flores brothers began their cooperation on their own accord, before they were arrested, and while they still had the full faith of their co-conspirators. The results they obtained would not have been possible had they waited until they were in custody before beginning to cooperate with the government. And, as detailed above, once they began cooperating, there cooperation was extraordinary and hugely impactful. For this reason, an appropriate balance must be struck between general deterrence and fostering cooperation as a viable alternative to persisting in a high-level criminal enterprise.

#### Personal Danger and Risk

The issue of personal safety and risk is also relevant to an appropriate sentence under 3553(a). The Flores brothers and their families are forever at risk due to their cooperation. The government remains confident in its ability to protect the Flores brothers, even after they have served their prison sentence. However, the threat to the Flores brothers and their family will continue to affect them after they serve any sentence imposed—through limitations on their freedom of movement (necessary in order to ensure their safety), and through the ever-present fear of retribution that will exist, regardless of what steps are taken to ensure their protection. This fear often serves as a complete bar to defendants who are contemplating cooperation. That the Flores brothers overcame this fear and put themselves in a position to gather the extraordinary evidence they did is yet another exceptional aspect of their cooperation that serves to offset their criminal liability.

#### The Defendants' History and Characteristics

The culpability/cooperation balance is relevant to an analysis of the Flores brothers' history and characteristics.<sup>11</sup> Since they were teens, the Flores brothers have engaged in an unbroken chain of criminal conduct that culminated in their status as massive distributors for two notorious and violent cartels. This is a long history that would normally justify a long prison term. However, as described above, the Flores brothers' cooperation serves as the counterbalance. An additional element to these competing dynamics is the Flores brothers' history of violence, or lack thereof. For obvious reasons, a violent history calls for a substantial sentence and greatly reduces the credibility and viability of a witness. Despite an exhaustive investigation, the government has not uncovered any acts of violence performed by the Flores brothers that could be corroborated by sufficient, credible evidence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In addition to the conduct described herein which predated their incarceration, while in BOP custody, the Flores brothers have been subject to various administrative disciplinary actions and sanctions. The government will produce additional information regarding these matters upon request by the Court.

#### Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 23 of 26 PageID #:2270

The government did learn of two specific <u>allegations</u> of violence: (1) that the Flores brothers were involved in the murder of **Constant Section** in Chicago; (2) and that the Flores brothers were involved in the murder of Guadalupe Ledesma in Mexico.

The

government reviewed the entire file of the investigation of this murder by state authorities and found no credible evidence of the Flores brothers' involvement. Moreover, multiple defendants were convicted for the murder, including a defendant who cooperated with the state. This defendant did not implicate the Flores brothers in any way.

Guadalupe Ledesma was a former associate of the Sinaloa Cartel to whom the Flores brothers owed a debt. A single witness has stated that he was told by others that the Flores brothers were directly responsible for Ledesma's murder. Well before this witness's statement, the Flores brothers described to the government the circumstances of Ledesma's murder. According to the Flores brothers, Ledesma caused Pedro Flores to be kidnapped over a drug debt. Pedro Flores was later released after payment was made and Chapo intervened. The Flores brothers stated that Ledesma lied to Chapo over the circumstances and amount of the debt and that Ledesma was ultimately killed. The Flores brothers denied any involvement in this murder. The Flores brothers further stated that Chapo offered them the opportunity to kill Ledesma, but they declined by stating that they did not want to engage in violence. The competing version of events from the other witness is largely the same with respect to the lead up events; however, the witness stated that the Flores brothers were actually responsible for Ledesma's murder. Although the government has found this witness to be credible in the past, because the government has not corroborated the witness's statement in any way, the government does not believe that there is sufficient evidence, even by a preponderance standard, to conclude that the Flores brothers were responsible for this murder and accordingly do not believe that these allegations should affect their sentence.<sup>12</sup>

#### VII. <u>Government's sentencing recommendation</u>

Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1)(C), the parties agreed in the plea agreements in this matter that the defendants should be sentenced to no less than 10 years and no more than 16 years, and that the parties shall be free to recommend any sentence within the agreed range. The government recommends that the Court impose sentence at or near the low-end of the agreed range. A sentence at or near the low-end of this range strikes the appropriate balance between culpability and cooperation, accomplishes the sentencing goals set forth in § 3553(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> It is plausible that the witness is being truthful, but received false information from third parties about the Ledesma murder.

## **CONCLUSION**

WHEREFORE, for the reasons stated herein, the government respectfully requests that the Court depart from the applicable Guidelines range and sentence defendants at or near the low-end of the agreed range of 10-16 years' imprisonment set forth in the defendants' plea agreements.

> Respectfully submitted, ZACHARY T. FARDON United States Attorney

By: <u>s/Michael Ferrara</u> MICHAEL FERRARA THOMAS D. SHAKESHAFT ERIKA CSICSILA NAANA FRIMPONG GEORGIA ALEXAKIS KATHRYN MALIZIA Assistant United States Attorneys 219 South Dearborn Street Chicago, Illinois 60604 (312) 886-7649

Dated: January 14, 2015

Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 26 of 26 PageID #:2273

# **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

The undersigned Assistant United States Attorney hereby certifies that the following document:

# GOVERNMENT'S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM AND MOTION TO DEPART FROM THE APPLICABLE GUIDELINE RANGE

was served January 14, 2015, in accordance with Fed. R. Crim. P. 49, Fed. R. Civ. P. 5, LR5.5, and the General Order on Electronic Case filing pursuant to the District Court's Electronic Case Filing (ECF) system as to ECF filers.

Respectfully submitted, ZACHARY T. FARDON United States Attorney

By: <u>s/Michael Ferrara</u> MICHAEL FERRARA Assistant United States Attorney United States Attorney's Office 219 South Dearborn Street Chicago, Illinois 60604 (312) 886-7649

# Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373-1 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 1 of 8 PageID #:2274

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	PARTICIPANTS	Synopsis	Related Event
1	11/9/2008	6:10pm	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Margarito Flores	Exchange of phone numbers for the couriers to do the 20-kilo heroin deal	20-kilo heroin seizure
2	11/12/2008	2:33am	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Margarito Flores; Pedro Flores	Further logistical conversation for heroin, at time of call, Margarito and Alfredillo agree that Twins are to receive 18 kilos	20-kilo heroin seizure
3	11/12/2008	UNK	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Margarito Flores	Alfredillo asks why the heroin has not been picked up; Margarito agrees to send the courier the following day Pedro speaks to courier to	20-kilo heroin seizure 20-kilo heroin
4	11/12/2008	9:57pm	UM; Pedro Flores	arrange pickup of the heroin	seizure
5	11/12/2008	10:40pm	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Pedro informs Alfredillo that a meeting with the courier has been scheduled for the following day Pedro tells the courier (Baez) to	20-kilo heroin seizure
6	11/13/2008	UNK	Gerardo Baez-Leyva; Pedro Flores	meet Pedro's courier at Noa-Noa on Mannheim	20-kilo heroin seizure
7	11/13/2008	UNK	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Pedro confirms receipt of the heroin and informs Alfredillo that the courier gave 2 extra, total of 20	20-kilo heroin seizure
8	11/14/2008	2:34pm	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Pedro asks Alfredillo to give the number of a clean cell phone to Chapo so he can call Pedro	20-kilo heroin seizure
9	11/15/2008	1:49am	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Pedro Flores	Pedro uses the heroin quality ruse to compare Chapo and Mayo's heroin; Juancho says that he will reach out to VZN to let him know of the poor quality	20-kilo heroin seizure; 8-kilo heroin seizure

**Exhibit A** Summary of Recordings Made by the Flores Brothers

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	PARTICIPANTS	Synopsis	Related Event
110.	RECORDING		Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia;	Margarito tells Felipe that the quality of the Felipe/Mayo heroin was bad; Margarito says that he also got heroin from Chapo and it	8-kilo heroin
10	11/15/2008	UNK	Margarito Flores	was better Pedro tells Felipe that the heroin was only 40% pure, asks that	seizure
11	11/15/2008	UNK	Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia; Pedro Flores	future shipments be at least 60- 80%	8-kilo heroin seizure
12	11/15/2008	UNK	Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia; Pedro Flores	Pedro confirms that they will pay Felipe despite the bad quality, asks for a number for Felipe's courier to make payment	8-Kilo heroin seizure; \$715K money walk
13	11/15/2008	8:45pm	Joaquin Guzman-Loera; Pedro Flores		20-kilo heroin seizure
14	11/15/2008	9:15pm	Joaquin Guzman-Loera; UM; Pedro Flores	Pedro arranges to make payment to Chapo for 20-kilos of heroin; Chapo hands the phone to a UM who gives Pedro instructions on how to make payment for the 20 kilos	20-Kilo heroin Seizure
15	11/15/2008	9:10pm	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Pedro tells Alfredillo that he just spoke to Chapo and arranged for payment, asks Alfredillo for 5 more kilos of the same heroin	20-kilo heroin seizure
16	11/15/2008	9:15pm	UM; Pedro Flores		20-Kilo heroin Seizure
17	11/24/2008	UNK	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Chapo courier and says that he will make a \$1 million payment to Chapo	

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	Participants	Synopsis	RELATED EVENT
18	11/26/2008	UNK	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Margarito Flores	Alfredillo calls looking for Pedro, tells Margarito that a courier is waiting to receive a payment	
19	11/26/2008	UNK	Alfredo Guzman-Salazar; Pedro Flores	Pedro tells Alfredillo that he used the money for something else and will put another \$1 million together by the following day to make the payment	
20	11/22/2008	UNK	Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia; Margarito Flores	Margarito tells Felipe that his courier thought he had a tail while making payment of the \$715K	8-Kilo heroin seizure; \$715K money walk
21	11/22/2008	UNK	Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia; Margarito Flores	Margarito tells Felipe that he delivered \$715K to Felipe's courier	8-Kilo heroin seizure; \$715K money walk
22	11/22/2008	UNK	Felipe Cabrera-Sarabia; Margarito Flores	Felipe tells Margarito that his courier believed he was followed from the \$715K money drop Juancho references a courier;	8-Kilo heroin seizure; \$715K money walk
23	11/29/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Margarito Flores	Margarito asks if Juancho is with VZN	
24	11/29/2008	UNK	Vincente Zambada- Niebla; Juan Guzman- Rocha; Margarito Flores	Juancho answers, hands phone to VZN; Margarito tell VZN that the quality of the heroin from Felipe was bad; Margarito paid Felipe for the heroin; Margarito found a soldier to get 20-30 rocket launchers, VZN agrees to accept in US at double cost	
25	11/6/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Pedro Flores	Pedro confirms loads of 87 and 91 kilos of cocaine from Juancho	L.A. Seizures

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	Participants	Synopsis	Related Event
26	11/13/2008	7:32pm	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Pedro Flores	Pedro asks Juancho to have his courier in LA turn his phone on so the Twins can receive 52 kilos of cocaine	L.A. Seizures
27	Between 11/13/2008- 11/16/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Pedro Flores	Pedro asks Juancho to have his courier in LA turn his phone	L.A. Seizures
28	11/25/2008	11:31pm	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Margarito Flores	Margarito tells Juancho that he will send payment for a past load Pedro asks Juancho when he can	L.A. Seizures
29	11/29/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Pedro Flores	deliver a load; Juancho says he will have 296 or 297 kilos Mon or Tues Margarito and Jauncho discuss a	L.A. Seizures
30	11/30/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Margarito Flores	courier picking up payment for the LA loads	L.A. Seizures
31	11/28/2008	UNK	Pocos Pelos; Margarito Flores	Rambo is in town to kill 3 people, references being with Chapo; Margarito talls Rambo that he is giving him money as a gift Olivares tells Pedro that a 400	
32	Between May and June 2008	UNK	German Olivares; Pedro Flores	kilo load is on the way; German asks for \$22K/kilo for the load; German asks about payment for the Twins' bill	
33	Between May and June 2008	UNK	German Olivares; Pedro Flores	Olivares says that JR has been trying to get a hold of the Twins to collect a payment; Pedro says that they will deliver \$1.5 million to Olivares' courier	
34	Between 11/10/2008- 11/15/2008	UNK	German Olivares; Pedro Flores	Olivares informs Pedro that a payment was short; Pedro says he made a total deposit of \$2.15 million, of which \$1.05 million was bound for Olivares	

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	PARTICIPANTS	SYNOPSIS	Related Event
			Manuel Fernandez-	Pedro informs Puerca of Margarito's recent mountaintop meeting with Chapo, Mayo, VZN, Olivares, etc.; Pedro and Puerca discuss the Twins running debt with Puerca - has climbed as high as \$40 million, at the time was around \$15 million; Pedro informs Puerca that Chapo	
35	Late October 2008	UNK	Navarro; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	wanted the Twins to set up Musico to be killed	1.04 ton cocaine seizure in LA
	Late October		Manuel Fernandez-	receiving a load of cocaine from AB-L on credit; Puerca references the Sinaloa-Beltran war and tells Pedro that he is afraid that AB- L/Musico will be mad that Puerca has received loads from	1.04 ton cocaine
36	2008	UNK	Navarro; Pedro Flores	Chapo/Mayo	seizure in LA
37	Late October- Early November 2008	UNK	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	Further discussions of planning a load with AB-L, at time of call, load as big as 500-600 kilos contemplated; Pedro asks to trade kilos of cocaine in Mexico City for kilos in Guadalajara	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
38	November 2008	2:16pm	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Margarito Flores	Margarito tells Puerca the AB-L load could be as large as 1 ton; Puerca says that he will agree to a 1 ton deal if they get 15 days to make payment to AB-L or a 500- kilo load if they are given 10 days to make payment	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	Participants	Synopsis	RELATED EVENT
			Manuel Fernandez-	Puerca informs Pedro that he has sent 600 kilos of the AB-L dope from Mexicali to LA; Puerca is holding 440 kilos in Mexicali which he will send north the	1.04-ton cocaine
39	11/13/2008	1:00pm	Navarro; Pedro Flores	following Monday	seizure in LA
40	11/17/2008	UNK	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Pedro Flores	Pedro confirms delivery of 1.04 tons in LA; Pedro and Puerca discuss how they will make payment to AB-L/Musico	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
41	11/22/2008	UNK	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Pedro Flores	Pedro and Puerca further discuss paying AB-L/Musico; generally discuss the Twins' account with Puerca; reference past loads	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
42	11/24/2008	UNK	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Pedro Flores	Pedro and Puerca further discuss paying AB-L/Musico	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
43	11/25/2008	7:37pm	Manuel Fernandez- Navarro; Pedro Flores	Pedro and Puerca further discuss paying AB-L/Musico	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
44	11/30/2008	UNK	Juan Guzman-Rocha; Margarito Flores	Juancho mioms Margarito that Chapo is looking for a trafficker in Mexicali named Teco because Teco stole a load from Chapo; Juancho warns Margarito to be careful because Teco provided info to SSP	
45	10/29/2008	UNK	Manuel LNU, Muisco; Margarito Flores	Musico informs Margarito that AB-L has a 4-ton load coming to Mexico through Pananma; Musico was concerned that Andy was arrested in Pananma with a 2-ton load	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
46	11/13/2008	UNK	Manuel LNU, Muisco; Margarito Flores	Musico informs Margarito that half of the 600-kilo load is in Mexico City and the other half is in Culican	1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA

# Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373-1 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 7 of 8 PageID #:2280

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	Participants	Synopsis	RELATED EVENT
47	11/2/2008	UNK	Part 1 - Manuel Fernandez-Navarro; Manuel LNU, Musico; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores / Part 2 - Alfredro Vasquez-Hernandez; Miguel Belloso; Juan Pablo-Bastidas; Nemo; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores Tomas Arevalo-Renteria;	Part 1 - 3-way communication b/t Puerca, Musico, and both Twins, negotiate what eventually becomes the 1.04-ton load; Puerca and Musico reference the war and their desire for the violence to end / Part 2 - Compadre comes over in person; discuss a 276-kilo load on the way to Chicago via train; Compadre explains Chapo's use of submarines and 747s to move dope into Mexico; Compadre discusses the impending arrival of a submarine load in which Compadre and the Twins have invested Pedro and Arevalo discuss payment for a past shipment of	Part 1 - 1.04-ton cocaine seizure in LA
48	10/21/2008 10/22/2008	2:16pm 2:16pm	Pedro Flores Tomas Arevalo-Renteria; Pedro Flores Tomas Arevalo-Renteria;	15 kilos of heroin rearo tens Arevaio that his courier will deliver payment for the past shipment of 15 kilos at 4:00 that day; Pedro tells Arevalo that the payment will be bigger than the \$700k owed for the 15- kilos and tells Arevalo to apply the extra money to a future transaction Arevalo passes the name and number of his courier, Turuco, for	12-kilo heroin
50	11/14/2008	2:24pm	Pedro Flores	the 12-kilo heroin deal The Twins call Arevalo from	seizure
51	1/5/2009	5:30pm	Tomas Arevalo-Renteria; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	custody to ask him to help them by getting full IDs for Musico and Juancho	

# Case: 1:09-cr-00383 Document #: 373-1 Filed: 01/14/15 Page 8 of 8 PageID #:2281

USAO CALL No.	DATE OF RECORDING	Тіме	Participants	Synopsis	Related Event
52	1/13/2009	3:50pm	Tomas Arevalo-Renteria; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	The Twins call Arevalo from custody to ask for his assistance with their cooperation	
53	1/13/2009	3:59pm	Tomas Arevalo-Renteria; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	The Twins call Arevalo from custody to ask for his assistance with their cooperation	
54	1/13/2009	4:20pm	Tomas Arevalo-Renteria; Pedro Flores; Margarito Flores	The Twins call Arevalo from custody to ask for his assistance with their cooperation	

# <u>Exhibit B</u>

The following seizures of drugs and drug proceeds were directly facilitated through the Flores brothers' cooperation:

- 1. On or about May 26, 2008, approximately 8 kilograms of cocaine in Chicago, Illinois and South Holland, Illinois.
- 2. On or about August 9, 2008, approximately 250 kilograms of cocaine in Melrose Park, Illinois.
- 3. On or about October 7, 2008, approximately 15 kilograms of heroin in Chicago, Illinois.
- 4. On or about November 4, 2008, approximately \$4,000,000 in United States currency in Hinsdale, Illinois.
- 5. On or about November 13, 2008, approximately 20 kilograms of heroin in Northlake, Illinois.
- 6. On or about November 13, 2008, approximately 8 kilograms of heroin in Chicago, Illinois.
- 7. On or about November 14, 2008, approximately 12 kilograms of heroin in Chicago, Illinois.
- 8. On or about November 14, 2008, approximately 77 kilograms of cocaine in Ontario, California, bound for Chicago, Illinois.
- 9. On or about November 15, 2008, approximately 86 kilograms of cocaine in Ontario, California, bound for Chicago, Illinois.
- 10. On or about November 15, 2008, law enforcement seized approximately 600 kilograms of cocaine in the Los Angeles, California area.

- 11. On or about November 17, 2008, approximately \$1,000,000 in United States currency in Romeoville, Illinois.
- 12. On or about November 18, 2008, approximately 89 kilograms of cocaine in Ontario, California, bound for Chicago, Illinois.
- 13. On or about November 21, 2008, law enforcement seized approximately 290 kilograms of cocaine in the Los Angeles, California area.
- 14. On or about October 29, 2008, approximately \$4,700,000 in United States currency in Hinsdale, Illinois.
- 15. On or about November 22, 2008, approximately \$715,000 in United States currency in Chicago, Illinois.
- 16. On or about November 25, 2008, approximately \$4,770,000 in United States currency in Romeoville, Illinois.
- 17. On or about November 30, 2008, law enforcement seized approximately 154 kilograms of cocaine in the Los Angeles, California area.
- 18. On or about November 30, 2008, approximately 322 kilograms of cocaine in Ontario, California, bound for Chicago, Illinois.
- 19. On or about November 30, 2008, law enforcement also seized approximately \$407,547 in United States currency in the Los Angeles, California area.

# Exhibit C

The following defendants were charged in substantial part due to the Flores brothers' cooperation:

- 1. United States v. Joaquin Guzman Loera, et al (09 CR 383)
  - a) Joaquin Guzman Loera
  - b) Ismael Zambada Garcia
  - c) Vicente Zambada Niebla
  - d) Alfredo Guzman Salazar
  - e) Alfredo Vasquez Hernandez
  - f) Juan Guzman Rocha
  - g) German Olivares
  - h) Felipe Cabrera Sarabia
  - i) Tomas Arevalo Renteria
  - j) Heriberto Zazueta Godoy
  - k) Edgar Manuel Valencia Ortega
- 2. United States v. Arturo Beltran Leyva, et al (09 CR 672)
  - a) Arturo Beltran Leyva
  - b) Manuel LNU (a/k/a "Musico")
  - c) Manuel Fernandez Valencia
- 3. United States v. Gerardo Baez-Leyva (08 CR 981)
- 4. United States v. Aran Carrillo (08 CR 982)
- 5. United States v. Elliot Buckner (08 CR 989)
- 6. United States v. Justin Turner, et al (08 CR 996)
  - a) Justin Turner
  - b) Larone Price
- 7. United States v. Dhawndric McDowell (08 CR 999)
- 8. United States v. Terrance Brown, et al (08 CR 1009)
  - a) Terrance Brown
  - b) Lynn Rowe
- 9. United States v. Ronald Smith, et al (08 CR 1053)
  - a) Ronald Smith
  - b) Kevin Smith

- 10. United States v. Cesar Perez, et al (09 CR 669)
  - a) Cesar Perez
  - b) Rolando Villasenor
  - c) Jorge Llamas
  - d) Francisco Espinosa
  - e) Antonio Aguilera
  - f) Daniel Torres
  - g) Fernando Villasenor
  - h) Ammier Kartoum
  - i) Carlos Hishmeh
  - j) Juan Rocha
  - k) Hector Simental
  - l) Gerardo Torres
  - m) Omar LNU
  - n) Jesus Medrano
  - o) Santos Patino
  - p) Thomas Gniadek, Jr.
  - q) Edward Smith
- 11. United States v. Ron Collins (09 CR 673)
- 12. United States v. Franklin Brown (09 CR 671)
- 13. United States v. Malek Rafati (09 CR 420)
  - a) Malek Rafati
  - b) Taha Zaid
- 14. United States v. Douglas Greer (09 CR 696)
  - a) Douglas Greer
  - b) Byron Cathey
- 15. United States v. Tommie Jones (09 CR 670)
- 16. United States v. Kiley Murray (09 CR 674)
- 17. United States v. Jose Rubio (09 CR 698)
- 18. United States v. Rickey Bell (09 CR 702)
- 19. United States v. Waleed Salama (10 CR 729)